THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Greenville County  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Letitia H. Verdin, Circuit Court Judge

**RECEIVED**

SEP 21 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

On Writ of Certiorari to Review  
Final Decision of the Court of Appeals

Opinion No. 2016-UP-368 (S.C. Ct. App. filed July 20, 2016)

**Appellate Case No.: 2016-002151**

Overland, Inc., d/b/a Land Rover Greenville ..... Petitioner,

Vs.

Lara Marie Nance, Charlie Andrew Nance, Roger Fields,  
Synovus Financial Corporation, d/b/a NBSC, Branch Banking  
And Trust Company, Bank of America Corporation, and  
SunTrust Banks, Inc. .... Defendants,

## STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

CAN A LAWYER RELY ON AN EXTENSION GRANTED TO HIM OR HER BY A CIRCUIT JUDGE FOR A CIRCUIT COURT MATTER IN A CIRCUIT COURT CASE BEFORE THAT SAME JUDGE?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves the embezzlement of approximately \$1,400,000 and the liability of the embezzler's banks, to wit Respondents Bank of America and Sun Trust. Exhibit A – Affidavit of Michael F. O'Shea (App. pp. 529-532) The case was given complex case status, and assigned to the Hon. Letitia H. Verdin “to hear and handle all pre-trial motions and all other matters pertaining to this case, including trial.” Exhibit B – Consent Order Designating Case Complex (App. pp. 533-537)

By Order dated December 15, 2014, and received by Appellant Overland's counsel, T. Hunt Reid, on December 17, 2014, Judge Verdin granted summary judgment to the banks. (App. pp. 6-14) Within 10 days, plus the allowable holiday and weekend grace period, Mr. Reid sought and received from Judge Verdin an extension of time to file a motion for reconsideration. He was out of town for the Christmas holidays, and sick. Exhibit C - E-mail chain of December 29, 2014 (App. pp. 538-541) Relying on Judge Verdin's extension, he then filed his motion. On February 5, 2014, Judge Verdin denied it. (App. pp. 15-16) Within 30 days, on March 4, 2014, Mr. Reid filed a notice of appeal. (App. p. 786)

Bank of America moved to dismiss the appeal on March 31, 2015. (App. pp. 519-523) It asserted that the motion for reconsideration was not timely presented, but provided no South Carolina authority for that proposition.<sup>1</sup> The Court of Appeals denied the bank's

---

<sup>1</sup> The sole South Carolina case that the bank cited is unpublished, which means that it is not the law. Additionally, the cases cited in that unpublished opinion do not fit the facts of this case. They do not

motion on June 4, 2015. (App. pp. 20-21) After the submission of final briefs and the record on appeal, the Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal on July 20, 2016 on the procedural ground that the extension to file the Rule 59(e) motion should not have been granted by the circuit judge (App. pp. 1055-1058) Appellant petitioned for rehearing on August 2, 2016. (App. pp. 1059-1073) The Court of Appeals denied the petition on September 23, 2016. (App. pp. 1076-1077) Appellant filed and served a Petition for Writ of Certiorari with accompanying Appendix on October 20, 2016, which the South Carolina Supreme Court granted on August 22, 2017.

## ARGUMENT

A LAWYER CAN RELY ON AN EXTENSION GRANTED TO HIM OR HER BY A CIRCUIT JUDGE FOR A CIRCUIT COURT MATTER IN A CIRCUIT COURT CASE BEFORE THAT SAME JUDGE.

### Summary

The Court of Appeals dismissed Overland's appeal as untimely filed because it erroneously construed Rule 59(e) as jurisdictional in the face of United States Supreme Court cases to the contrary. Also, it ignored constitutional due process, which entitles a lawyer to rely on an extension of time given to him by the court. Finally, it misapplied the two cases that it cited in its Order of Dismissal. This is especially true of *Elam v. S.C. Dept. of Transportation*, 361 S.C. 9, 602 S.E.2d 772 (2004), a Rule 59(e) case in which the South Carolina Supreme Court stated "civil procedure and appellate rules should not be written or interpreted to create a trap for the unwary lawyer or party... , Rule 1 SCRCPP (civil procedure rules "shall be construed to secure the just, speedy and inexpensive determination of every action...") and [w]e strive to avoid an interpretation of procedural rules which routinely would place a party

---

stand for the proposition that the trial court may not extend the time to file a Rule 59(e) motion when the request to file such motion is made within the 10-day window. Mr. Reid made his request within the window.

between the proverbial rock and a hard place.” *Id.* 361 S.C. 17, 602 S.E.2d 776 (internal citations omitted).

The bar deserves and needs the Supreme Court’s guidance on whether it can rely on an extension granted to a lawyer by a circuit judge for a circuit court matter in a circuit court case before that same judge. Similarly, the bench would benefit from such guidance. The case at hand involves this issue, which is both novel and important to the practice of law in South Carolina generally. The circumstances of the case are especially compelling because the extension was requested and granted over the Christmas and New Year holiday to a young lawyer who was ill at the time. The trial judge and parties then proceeded with the extension in place. When the Court of Appeals dismissed the case, without precedent from the Supreme Court, on the narrow procedural ground that the extension should have not been granted by the circuit judge, the consequences were disastrous not only for the client but also for the lawyer.

Analysis of the Law and Facts

Overland’s Rule 59(e) motion was timely filed with the trial court because it was filed within the time prescribed by the trial court. On December 29, 2014, Hunter Reid requested an extension of time within which to file a Rule 59(e) motion and the trial court granted the motion *before* the 10-day period had expired.

Judge Verdin,

Good afternoon. I am writing you to request an extension of time to file a Rule 59(e) Motion in the Overland v. Nance lawsuit. I was out of the state all of last week for Christmas holidays, and I have been sick as well. If your Honor believes it cannot grant me an extension until the end of the week under these circumstances, then would your Honor please also consider allowing me to submit an Amended Motion at a later date?

\* \* \*

Hunter Reid

(R. pp. 12-13). There is no known South Carolina precedent that precludes such an extension under Rule 59(e). Nor has the South Carolina Supreme Court undercut reliance on judicial orders by holding that counsel may not rely on timely extensions granted by trial court judges. Appellant's extension had been requested and granted *within* the 10-day window of Rule 59(e), SCRPC. In the alternative, Mr. Reid requested permission to amend later if the court required to him file his motion for reconsideration within the 10-day window. Judge Verdin chose to grant the extension. Mr. Reid then relied upon the court's extension as he was entitled to do. See, *National Ecological Foundation v. Alexander*, 496 F.3d 466 (6<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2007).

The 10-day window in Rule 59(e) is not both inflexible and jurisdictional and, therefore, can be enlarged by the judge hearing a motion for reconsideration. It is unlike the time for filing a notice of intent to appeal, which both the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure and the South Carolina Supreme Court have explicitly stated to be jurisdictional and not allowed to be extended by consent or order. (Rule 6(b), SCRPC) A motion for reconsideration is also unlike a notice of intent to appeal because the motion must be detailed and comprehensive whereas the notice is only two simple sentences. (App. C., Form 2, SCACR)

The 10-day window for reconsideration was put into the rule not as a limitation of the court's jurisdiction, but rather as an extension of it. Historically, a traveling circuit judge was deprived of jurisdiction when she or he left the circuit; leaving the circuit at the end of the week ended the judge's jurisdiction. The 10-day window was inserted into the rule to allow greater - not lesser - time and flexibility. *Cox v. Fleetwood Homes of Georgia, Inc.*, 334 S.C. 55, 512 S.E.2d 498 (1999), decided years after the adoption of Rule 59, provided further flexibility,

and shows the unwillingness of the appellate courts to be hidebound on the handling of cases at the circuit level under the prior restrictive practice.

Moreover, Judge Verdin had more than the 10-day window; by court order and the consent of the parties, she had continuing jurisdiction of this complex case. Because she had jurisdiction, she could grant the extension.

By accepting and then ruling on the motion for reconsideration, Judge Verdin eliminated the argument by Bank of America's counsel about the 10-day window. A similar argument was rejected in *Gallagher v. Evert*, 353 S.C. 59, 577 S.E.2d 217 (Ct. App. 2002). That case also involved a Rule 59(e) motion.

Because the circuit court found it appropriate to hear the matter, we find no error in the circuit court's decision to decide the motion despite Gallagher's failure to comply with Rule 59(g), SCRCF. The notes to Rule 59, SCRCF, indicate that subsection (g) was added 'to help insure the judge is promptly notified that the motion has been filed.' There is no indication that the failure to transmit a copy of the motion to the circuit court affects the tolling provision of Rule 203(b)(1), SCACR. Therefore, the time for filing the notice of appeal did not begin to run until after the circuit court denied the motion on December 27, 2000. After the circuit court denied the motion, only twenty days passed before Gallagher filed his notice of appeal on January 16, 2001, thus Gallagher complied with Rule 203(b), SCACR. (Hearn, C. J.)

This case is not simply about a 10-day window. It is about subject matter jurisdiction, which goes to the heart of judicial power. The United States Supreme Court addressed this issue under the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure in *Bowles v. Russell*, 551 U.S. 205, 127 S. Ct. 2360, 168 L.Ed. 2d 96 (2007). There it clarified the distinction between jurisdictional rules and simple time limit rules, the latter of which it characterizes "claim processing" rules. *See also, Eberhart v. United States*, 546 U.S. 12, 125 S. Ct. 403, 163 L.Ed2d 14 (2005), and *Kontrick v. Ryan*, 540 U.S. 443, 124 S. Ct. 906, 157 L.Ed2d 867 (2004). The time limit in Rule 59(e) is not jurisdictional. Instead, it is "claims-processing." As such, it is subject to extension by the court.

After *Eberhart* and *Kontrick*, it is impossible to argue that Federal Rule 59(e) is jurisdictional. Likewise, it is impossible to argue that Rule 59(e) SCRCPP, is jurisdictional. Moreover, jurisdictional stricture is even less defensible for the South Carolina rule, which has a filing window that is only a third as long as that for the federal rule (i.e. 10 days vs. 28 days). Also, Rule 6(b)SCRCPP that allows extensions is less emphatic than the federal rule in reference to Rule 59; it does not use the word “must”. Because the federal rule is not jurisdictional, surely the South Carolina rule is not jurisdictional either.

The filing period under Rule 59(e), SCRCPP, is not an inflexible jurisdictional rule. It is a procedural rule for claims processing to be interpreted in civil cases for the “just, speedy, and inexpensive determination of every action.” Rule 1, SCRCPP. The South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure grant our circuit court judges with the authority to instruct litigants on precisely how and when they must act. Claims-processing rules are not synonymous with jurisdictional rules. *See Arbaugh v. Y & H Corp.*, 546 U.S. 500, at 516 (2006) (holding that “time prescriptions, however emphatic, ‘are not properly typed jurisdictional absent some jurisdictional designation by Congress”).

Under the *Bowles*, *Eberhart* and *Kontrick* trilogy, the Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals has supplied the roadmap for analyzing the claim-processing nature of Rule 59(e), SCRCPP, in a case almost identical to the case before this Court. In *National Ecological Foundation v. Alexander*, 496 F.3d 466 (6<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2007), the State (Alexander) sought an extension of time to file a Rule 59(e) motion. NEF agreed to the extension. When the State later appealed the trial court’s order, NEF argued that Rule 59(e) motion was untimely and, therefore, the appellate court lacked jurisdiction. That is the same argument made by the Respondents in the present case. The *National Ecological* court rejected “this argument because two recent Supreme Court cases require us to conclude that the time limits set by Rules 6 and 59(e) constitute an affirmative

defense to an untimely Rule 59(e) motion, which the party opposing the motion is capable of forfeiting.” *Id.* at 474 (citing *Eberhart* and *Kontrick*). *National Ecological* held that “no principled distinction exists between the rules at issue in *Kontrick* and *Eberhart* and the structure created by Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 6(b) and 59(e). Since these rules are indistinguishable from those in *Kontrick* and *Eberhart*, we conclude that they are claim-processing rules that provided NEF with a forfeitable affirmative defense.” *Id.* at 475. NEF forfeited its affirmative defense when it “agreed not to contest the State’s motion for an extension of time to file its Rule 59(e) motion.” *Id.*

NEF then argued that even if the Rule 59(e) motion was allowed, the State’s Rule 59(e) motion was nonetheless untimely with regards to the State’s ability to file an appeal under Rule of Appellate Procedure 4(a)(4)(A)(iv). The Court disagreed, stating:

As an initial point, we note that this argument would not prevent the review of the State’s Rule 59(e) motion, which constitutes a “judgment or order” under Rule of Appellate Procedure 4(a)(1). More fundamentally, however, we conclude that, where a party forfeits an objection to the untimeliness of a Rule 59(e) motion, that forfeiture makes the motion “timely” for the purposes of Rule 4(a)(4)(A)(iv). The Rules themselves do not define “timely,” but we can discern no reason for holding that an otherwise properly filed motion that was considered by the district court would fail to toll the time for filing a notice of appeal.

*Id.* at 476. Thus, *National Ecological* held that Rules 59(e) and 6 are not jurisdictional.

The facts underlying this appeal are like those in *National Ecological*. Appellant Overland requested an extension of time to file its Rule 59(e) motion *before* the 10-day period stated in the rule expired. (App. pp. 538-541) Bank of America’s counsel did not object to the enlargement of time, and in fact, expressed his willingness to be accommodating, when the request for enlargement of time was made. (App. pp. 538-541) The court granted the extension within the hour. (App. pp. 538-541) The Rule 59(e) motion was filed within the time allowed for the extension and the court ruled on the motion. (App. pp. 15-16) Like

NEF in *National Ecological*, Bank of America forfeited its right to object to the timeliness of the motion.<sup>2</sup>

Likewise, SunTrust waived its right to object to the extension when it did not raise an objection in its Response to Petitioner's Rule 59(e) Motion.<sup>3</sup> The right to object to an extension of time for a Rule 59(e) Motion can be waived by failing to object to the extension or by failing to raise the issue early enough. SunTrust did not object to either the motion or the trial court's grant of the motion. The *Kontrick* court stated that while a "court's subject-matter jurisdiction cannot be expanded to account for the parties' litigation conduct" a [non-judicial] claim-processing rule . . . even if unalterable on a parties' application, can nonetheless be forfeited if the party asserting the rule waits too long to raise the point." *Kontrick*, 540 U.S. at 456. SunTrust said not a single word about the extension in its short three-page Response to the circuit. (App. pp. 100-102) SunTrust waived its right to object.

The Court of Appeals misapprehended the distinction between the two types of rules by treating Rule 59(e) as jurisdictional and having an absolute and inflexible filing deadline the same as that for filing a notice of appeal. When a Rule is intended to limit jurisdiction, it clearly states that limitation so that attorneys and the judiciary are all on notice

---

<sup>2</sup> Bank of America wrongly asserted in the Court of Appeals and its Return to Petition for Writ of Certiorari that Rule 59(e), SCRCF, is jurisdictional and ignored *Eberhart*, *Kontrick*, *Bowles*, and *National Ecological*. Bank of America's federal cases that predate *Eberhart*, *Kontrick*, *Bowles*, and *National Ecological* are not good law. The only federal case Bank of America referenced that was decided after *Eberhart* and *Kontrick*, fails to mention these controlling United States Supreme Court cases and for that reason is not good law, either. *Robinson v. Sweeny*, 794 F.3d 782, 783 (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2015). That case is also distinguishable because Robinson did not file a proper Rule 59(e) motion.

<sup>3</sup> In its Return to Petition for Writ of Certiorari, SunTrust argued that it was not asked about an extension before it was granted and therefore did not waive its right to object. Bank of America and SunTrust had a joint defense agreement; contacting Bank of America for an extension was sufficient. In any event, SunTrust waived its right to object to the extension when it did not raise its objection in its Response to Petitioner's Rule 59(e) Motion. SunTrust also asserts that the extension of time was sought only to file a Rule 59(e) Motion as to the grant of summary judgment in favor of Bank of America. That is not correct. SunTrust does not cite to any record support for such a claim; indeed, support for this claim does not exist. Moreover, SunTrust failed to make such an argument in the trial court.

of what they may and may not do regarding deadlines. Rule 6(b) limiting jurisdiction on appeals states that the “time for filing notice of intent to appeal is jurisdictional and may not be extended by consent or order.” That language is absent from Rule 59(e). That limitation for notice of appeal, moreover, has been drummed into the bar by the South Carolina Supreme Court. No such precedent exists for the dismissal of this appeal. The Court of Appeals’ dismissal converts Rule 59(e) from a claims-processing rule to a jurisdictional one without prior notice or due process.<sup>4</sup>

Finally, Bank of America contended in its Return to Petition for Writ of Certiorari that Overland’s counsel should not have relied on Judge Verdin’s order because it was transmitted by her administrative specialist via email. That argument is plainly flimsy. That the bank feels the need to make it only highlights its own doubts about the strength of its other arguments. It is ironic that an institution that handles the electronic transfer of billions of dollars every hour is reluctant to give credence to an electronic message from an officer of the court.

Perhaps most importantly, the Due Process Clauses of the United States Constitution and the South Carolina Constitution, and simple fairness, require reversal. Here we have a young lawyer, sick and out-of-town during Christmas, doing what is expected of him. He

---

<sup>4</sup> Bank of America argued in its Return to Petition for Writ of Certiorari, p. 7, that Appellant could have filed a “simple Rule 59(e) motion that day” or by serving “a notice of appeal on any of the 20 remaining days of the normal 30-day period for appeal. The short answer is that Judge Verdin’s grant of the extension made those alternatives unnecessary and Hunter Reid rightly relied on what the judge had ordered. Beyond this, the Bank’s argument fails for several other reasons. First, a Rule 59(e) motion in a complicated banking case involving multiple defendants is not simple. To preserve each issue for appeal, Overland was required to raise and have the trial court judge rule on each issue. Second, courts have cautioned that they do not want counsel filing both a Rule 59(e) motion and a notice of appeal before the court has first decided the Rule 59(e) motion. Third, Overland’s counsel did ask the Court whether it preferred a “simple” motion, with leave to amend later. The court responded by granting the extension of time. (App. p. 17)

contacts opposing counsel and the judge to ask for a brief extension of time. The judge grants the request and he files his motion. Of all things that one should be able to count on in the practice of law, it is the time given by the judge personally to file something with that very judge. In fairness, that reliance should not be undercut. Under Due Process, it cannot be. This is especially true in a case such as this one, where the South Carolina Supreme Court has not visited the issue and provided the lawyers and litigants of this State with notice whether the 10-day window in Rule 59(e) may or may not be enlarged upon a motion timely made before the 10-day period has expired.

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