RECEIVED

OCT 11 2017

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Appeal From Greenville County
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

The Honorable Letitia H. Verdin, Circuit Court Judge

On Writ of Certiorari to Review
Final Decision of the Court of Appeals

Opinion No. 2016-UP-368 (S.C. Ct. App. filed July 20, 2016)

Appellate Case No. 2016-002151

Overland, Inc., d/b/a Land Rover Greenville,..... Petitioner,

vs.

Lara Marie Nance, Charlie Andrew Nance, Roger Fields,
Synovus Financial Corporation d/b/a NBSC, Branch Banking
and Trust Company, Bank of America Corporation, and
SunTrust Banks, Inc.,..... Defendants,

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

¹ By contrast, Rule 59(b) expressly allows the court discretion to permit a new trial motion to be served up to 10 days after a jury is discharged.

² The same rationale applies to Rules 6 and 59, SCRCF, which are modeled on the similarly numbered rules of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. *See* Notes, Rule 6, SCRCF (“This Rule 6(b) is the same as the Federal Rule”); Notes, Rule 59, SCRCF (“This Rule 59 is substantially the Federal Rule.”); *Elam v. South Carolina Dept. of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 22, 602 S.E.2d 772, 779 (2004) (“Rule 59(e) in the South Carolina and federal rules of civil procedure is practically identical.”).

Rules 6(b) and 59(e) could not be clearer. They plainly state that Rule 59(e)'s 10-day time limit on serving a motion to alter or amend judgment may not be extended.³ For that reason, Judge Verdin lacked authority to extend Overland's time to serve its motion. Her email purporting to extend time exceeded her powers and was ineffective.

Under the clear wording of Rules 6(b) and 59(e), SCRPC, and 203(b)(1), SCACR, Overland's untimely Rule 59(e) motion did not stay the time for appeal. Hence, the appeal deadline expired long before Overland served its notice of appeal on March 4, 2015. The notice of appeal was untimely. The Court of Appeal correctly dismissed the appeal for that reason. Its judgment should be affirmed.

C. The Court Should Enforce The Rules As Written, Allowing No Unwritten Exceptions

For the reasons stated above, Overland does not and cannot contend that its Rule 59(e) motion and appeal were timely under the rules as written. Instead, Overland asks the Court to create unwritten exceptions to the rules based on BANA's supposed waiver of the time limits or on Overland's purported reliance on Judge Verdin's invalid extension email.

The Court should deny Overland's request and refuse to permit email extensions of the deadlines for filing post-trial motions and appeals or to allow equitable or other unwritten exceptions to the rules governing those deadlines. The federal courts' two unsuccessful experiments with exceptions to these rules demonstrate that it is wiser judicial policy in the long run to enforce these rules as written, without exception.

³ Overland's brief wrongly argues that Rule 59(e)'s 10-day deadline "can be enlarged by the judge hearing a motion for reconsideration." Pet. Brief, 4. Rule 6(b) expressly denies the judge that power. Rule 6(b) also belies Overland's assertion that "[t]here is no known South Carolina precedent that precludes such an extension under Rule 59(e)." Pet. Brief, 4. No "precedent" is needed when Rule 6(b) clearly and expressly precludes the extension of Rule 59(e)'s 10-day deadline.

The United States Supreme Court initiated the first of the two federal experiments in *Harris Truck Lines, Inc. v. Cherry Meat Packers, Inc.*, 371 U.S. 215, 216-17, 83 S.Ct. 283, 9 L.Ed.2d 261 (1962). That case adopted the so-called “unique circumstances” doctrine under which an otherwise untimely appeal was permitted in order to avoid penalizing a party for relying on a district court’s assurance that the party had additional time to file an appeal beyond the time allowed by statute or court rule. *See Gutierrez v. Johnson & Johnson*, 523 F.3d 187, 197 (3d Cir. 2008).

The “unique circumstances” doctrine spawned a split of authority among the federal Courts of Appeals on a variety of issues, including whether a party’s reliance on an order purporting to extend time for filing a post-trial motion was a “unique circumstance” *See* 16A Charles A. Wright, et al., *Fed. Practice & Procedure*, § 3950.4, pp. 365-72 (2008).

In 2007, the United States Supreme Court largely ended the “unique circumstances” doctrine, holding that “the timely filing of a notice of appeal in a civil case is a jurisdictional requirement. Because this Court has no authority to create equitable exceptions to jurisdictional requirements, use of the ‘unique circumstances’ doctrine is illegitimate.” *Bowles v. Russell*, 551 U.S. 205, 214, 127 S.Ct. 2360, 168 L.Ed.2d 96 (2007) (citations omitted).⁴ Also, as explained below, the 2016 amendment to Rule 4(a)(4)(A), Fed. R. App., ends the “unique circumstances” doctrine as an exception to the time for appeal after an otherwise untimely post-trial motion.

The federal courts’ second experiment with unwritten exceptions to the rules setting deadlines for post-trial motions and appeals began with the United States Supreme Court

⁴ *Bowles* overruled *Harris Truck Lines* and *Thompson v. INS*, 375 U.S. 384, 84 S.Ct. 397, 11 L.Ed.2d 404 (1964), another “unique circumstances” doctrine decision “to the extent they purport to authorize an exception to a jurisdictional rule.” *Bowles*, 551 U.S. at 214.

decision in *Kontrick v. Ryan*, 540 U.S. 443, 458-59, 124 S.Ct. 906 157 L.Ed.2d 867 (2004). Before that decision, the lower federal courts held that the rules' deadlines for filing post-trial motions were jurisdictional and not subject to exception, other than possibly under the "unique circumstances" doctrine. See, e.g., *Panhorst*, 241 F.3d at 372; *Weitz v. Lovelace Health Sys., Inc.*, 214 F.3d 1175, 1178-81 (10th Cir. 2000); *Alston v. MCI Commc'ns Corp.*, 84 F.3d 705, 706-07 (4th Cir. 1996); *Kraus v. Consolidated Rail Corp.*, 899 F.2d 1360, 1362-68 (3d Cir. 1990).

Kontrick upset that reasoning. Noting that "[o]nly Congress may determine a lower federal court's subject-matter jurisdiction. U.S. Const., Art. III, § 1," *Kontrick* held a deadline set solely by court rule cannot limit a federal court's subject-matter jurisdiction. Therefore, rule-set deadlines are not truly "jurisdictional." *Kontrick*, 540 U.S. at 452-56. Instead, rule-set time limits are merely "claims-processing" deadlines which a party must timely raise to avoid waiving or forfeiting any objection to a pleading or motion's untimeliness. *Id.*, at 456-59.

Later Supreme Court cases, such as *Eberhart v. United States*, 546 U.S. 12, 19, 125 S.Ct. 403, 163 L.Ed.2d 14 (2005), applied and elaborated on this jurisdictional/claims-processing dichotomy as well as the consequences which flow from those labels. Truly jurisdictional deadlines—those set by congressional enactments that evince an intent to limit the federal courts' subject-matter jurisdiction—may not be varied by the opposing party's consent or by court-created equitable exceptions. See *Bowles*, 551 U.S. at 213-14. By contrast, mere "claims-processing" rules may be waived or forfeited if not timely invoked and are subject to equitable exceptions.

Like the “unique circumstances” doctrine, the jurisdictional/claims-processing dichotomy threw the federal courts into disarray, particularly with respect to deadlines for post-trial motions. While Rules 6 and 50-60, Fed. R. Civ. P., are clearly “claims-processing” rules under *Kontrick’s* reasoning, Rule 4, Fed. R. App., is “jurisdictional” under *Bowles*. Does the fact that Rule 4 incorporates the Civil Procedure Rules’ deadlines by reference make them jurisdictional as well? The case on which Overland’s brief principally relies, *Nat’l Ecological Found. v. Alexander*, 496 F.3d 466, 475-76 (6th Cir. 2007), held that the post-trial motion deadlines were “claims-processing” rules subject to waiver and equitable exception. Some other Courts of Appeals agreed;⁵ others held to the contrary. *See, e.g., Blue v. Int’l Bhd. of Elec. Workers Local Union 159*, 676 F.3d 579, 582 (7th Cir. 2012); *Lizardo v. United States*, 619 F.3d 273, 278 (3d Cir. 2010).

To resolve that split, Rule 4(a)(4)(A), Fed. R. App., was amended in 2016, substituting “within the time allowed by those rules”—i.e., Rules 50, 54, 58, 59 and 60, Fed. R. Civ. P.—for “timely.” The 2016 Advisory Committee Note explains the amendment’s purpose:

A clarifying amendment is made to subdivision (a)(4). Former Rule 4(a)(4) provided that “[i]f a party timely files in the district court” certain post-judgment motions, “the time to file an appeal runs for all parties from the entry of the order disposing of the last such remaining motion.” Responding to a circuit split concerning the meaning of “timely” in this provision, the amendment adopts the majority approach and rejects the approach taken in *National Ecological Foundation v. Alexander*, 496 F.3d 466 (6th Cir. 2007). A motion made after the time allowed by the Civil Rules will not qualify as a motion that, under Rule 4(a)(4)(A), re-starts the appeal time—and that fact is not altered by, for example, a court order

⁵ *See, e.g., Mobley v. C.I.A.*, 806 F.3d 568, 578 (D.C. Cir. 2015); *Weitzner v. Cynosure, Inc.*, 802 F.3d 307, 312 (2d Cir. 2015).

that sets a due date that is later than permitted by the Civil Rules, another party's consent or failure to object to the motion's lateness, or the court's disposition of the motion without explicit reliance on untimeliness.

With this 2016 amendment, the federal courts have returned to the rules they followed before *Harris Truck Lines* and its "unique circumstances" doctrine and before *Kontrick* and its jurisdictional/claims-processing dichotomy. Now, once more, the federal rules mean what they say. A post-trial motion filed after expiration of the rule-set deadline for such a motion is untimely and will not stay or re-start the time for appeal. Once again, there is no exception. The appeal time is unaffected by an untimely post-trial motion even if the district court issues an order purportedly extending the time for filing the post-trial motion (the "unique circumstances" doctrine) or the opposing party fails to object to the motion's untimeliness (*Kontrick, Eberhart, Nat'l Ecological Found.*).

There is no reason for South Carolina to retrace the federal courts' long journey back to the point from which they began. This Court never adopted the "unique circumstances" doctrine. *See Elam*, 361 S.C. at 14-15, 602 S.E.2d at 775. There is no reason for it to adopt the jurisdictional/claims-processing dichotomy. Unlike the federal courts, South Carolina's courts are courts of general jurisdiction.⁶ And unlike the United States Supreme Court, which may adopt rules of practice and procedure only as allowed by the Rules Enabling Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2702, the South Carolina Constitution directly grants this Court rule-making authority. S.C. Const. art. V, § 4. So, there is little reason under South Carolina law to draw

⁶ *See Fullbright v. Spinnaker Resorts, Inc.*, 420 S.C. 265, ___, 802 S.E.2d 794, 799 (2017); *Dema v. Tenet Physician Servs.-Hilton Head, Inc.*, 383 S.C. 115, 120, 678 S.E.2d 430, 433 (2009); S.C. Const. art. V, § 11.

a firm distinction between jurisdictional and claims-processing rules—or to assign all deadlines set only by court rule to the latter category.⁷

Rather than focusing on those labels, the Court should address the consequences that flow from them. Can the deadline, however set, be waived or forfeited by lack of timely objection? Can a party request or the court grant an extension of the deadline by email? Are there any other equitable exceptions to the deadline? Those are the ultimately determinative questions. Insofar as deadlines for serving post-trial motions and appeals are concerned those questions are clearly answered by South Carolina’s Rules of Civil Procedure and Appellate Court Rules, particularly Rule 6(b), SCRPC.

By simply enforcing those rules, as written without exception, this Court will arrive at the same point to which the federal courts finally returned in 2016—and all without the uncertainty, travail and expense of the federal courts’ two failed experiments with unwritten exceptions to the federal rules.

D. Under The Facts Of This Case, No Equitable Exception Applies To Save Overland’s Untimely Appeal

Even were this Court inclined to allow unwritten exceptions to the rule-set deadlines for post-trial motions and appeals, it should affirm the dismissal of Overland’s appeal because Overland cannot fit within either of the two putative exceptions it mentions in its opening brief.

⁷ For example, the time for appeal is set only by court rule, not statute, in South Carolina. Rule 203, SCACR. Under *Kontrick*’s reasoning, the rule-set deadline would be merely a “claims-processing” rule subject to forfeiture or equitable exception. Yet, this Court has repeatedly held that Rule 203’s time limits are, in fact, jurisdictional. See *Elam*, 361 S.C. at 14-15, 602 S.E.2d at 775 (“The requirement of service of the notice of appeal is jurisdictional, i.e., if a party misses the deadline, the appellate court lacks jurisdiction to consider the appeal”); *Mears v. Mears*, 287 S.C. 168, 169, 337 S.E.2d 206, 207 (1985) (“Service of the notice of intent to appeal is a jurisdictional requirement.”).

1. BANA Promptly Asserted Its Objection To Overland's Rule 59(e) Motion As Untimely

Under *Kontrick's* holding, to invoke the benefit of a deadline set by a “claims-processing” rule, a party must object to the untimeliness of the opponent’s pleading or motion before it is adjudicated on the merits—otherwise, the untimeliness objection is waived or forfeited.

That principle cannot save Overland’s appeal because BANA *did* object to Overland’s Rule 59(e) motion on the ground of its untimeliness before Judge Verdin denied that motion on its merits.

When first contacted by Overland’s counsel about extending time to serve its Rule 59(e) motion, BANA’s attorney replied: “look at Rule 6(b) and Rule 59(e). I don’t think we can consent or that Judge Verdin has the discretion to extend” (App. 119.) In response to Overland’s e-mail to Judge Verdin which incorrectly stated that BANA “doesn’t have any objection to this request” for an extension of time to serve a Rule 59(e) motion, BANA’s attorney reiterated his “belief upon review of Rules 6(b) and 59(e) that I do not have the power to extend, and the ten (10) day limit is non-discretionary.”⁸ (App. 118.)

In its opposition to Overland’s Rule 59(e) motion, BANA formally objected to the motion as untimely. (App. 121-123.) The opposition cited Rules 6(b) and 59(e), asserted that “[a] court may not extend the time within which a Rule 59(e) motion can be filed,” and argued that “[t]he Motion was untimely and should be denied on that basis.” (*Id.*) The

⁸ The record, thus, disproves Overland’s assertion that BANA’s “counsel did not object to the enlargement of time ... when the request for enlargement of time was made.” Pet. Brief., 7. BANA’s counsel did say he was “willing to be accommodating” insofar as the law allowed. (App. 118.) But he did not thereby waive or forfeit BANA’s timely objection. *Kontrick* requires a timely objection, not incivility.

opposition was served and filed on January 30, 2015 (App. 129), before Judge Verdin denied the Rule 59(e) motion on the merits on February 5, 2015 (App. 15).

Thus, BANA timely raised its objection to the untimeliness of Overland's Rule 59(e) motion before Judge Verdin ruled on the merits of that motion. That is all that *Kontrick's* waiver or forfeiture rule requires.

Dill raised the timeliness issue before the district court reached the merits of the Rule 50(b) motion but too late for General American to take corrective action. Because the district court had not ruled, we hold that Dill properly and timely raised the untimeliness defense and that the district court properly dismissed General American's Rule 50(b) motion for lack of jurisdiction. As a result, General American's late-filed Rule 50(b) motion did not toll its time for filing its notice of appeal.

Dill v. Gen. Am. Life Ins. Co., 525 F.3d 612, 619 (8th Cir. 2008) (citation omitted).

So even if adopted in South Carolina, *Kontrick's* waiver or forfeiture rule would not save Overland's untimely motion and appeal.⁹

⁹ “[D]istrict courts must observe the clear limits of the Rules of Criminal Procedure when they are properly invoked.” *Eberhart*, 546 U.S. at 17 “[T]he central point of [*United States v. Robinson*, 361 U.S. 220, 229, 80 S.Ct. 282, 4 L.Ed.2d 259 (1960) was] that when the Government objected to a filing [as] untimely under Rule 37, the court’s duty to dismiss the appeal was mandatory.” *Id.*, at 18. “As the 10–day filing requirement in Rule [59(e)] and the prohibition against extending that time period in Rule 6(b) are claim-processing rules with ‘inflexible’ limits, the rules ‘assure relief to a party properly raising them.’” *Dill*, 525 F.3d at 618 (citations omitted).

Nat’l Ecological Found., 496 F.3d at 476 does not hold to the contrary. Instead, it decided that “[b]ecause the district court ruled on the State’s Rule 59(e) motion before NEF raised the issue of untimeliness, NEF has forfeited its timeliness defense.” *Id.* Here, as in *Dill*, the timeliness objection was raised before the ruling on the post-trial motion. So the objection was not forfeited.

2. Unreasonable Reliance On The Circuit Court’s Email Does Not Excuse The Untimeliness Of Overland’s Motion

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